IN THE UPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

APR 9 1992

Chief Deputy Clerk

SUPREME COURT.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

V.

CASE **NO.** 79,630

JAMES VON DECK,

Respondent.

Ket

-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ROBERNEN GBNERERWORTH ATTORNEY

ANTHONY J. GOLDEN
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #162172
210 N. Palmetto Ave.
Suite 447
Daytona Beach, FL 32114
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

TABLE OF CONTENIS

<u>.</u> <u>.</u>	PAGES :
AUTHORITIES CITED	.i.i
STATEMENT OF THE CASE	1
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS	2
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT	3

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 16, 1990, an Information was filed in Circuit Court Case No. 90-19190 CF charging that, on October 24, 1990, Respondent attempted to commit the offense of Murder of a Law Enforcement Officer. (Appendix I, R1401). On March 4-8, 1991, a jury trial was conducted at which Respondent was found guilty of the lesser included offense of Aggravated Assault on a Law Enforcement Officer with a Firearm. On April 4, 1991, Respondent was adjudicated guilty and sentenced to the mandatory minimum sentence of three years imprisonment. (Appendix II, R1552-1555).

Respondent appealed his conviction and sentence to the Fifth District Court of Appeal in Case No. 91-758. On February 7, 1992, that Court filed its opinion reversing Respondent's conviction for Aggravated Assault on a Law Enforcement Officer with a Firearm, because the Information contained no allegation that Officer Huss had a well-founded fear of imminent violence when Respondent shot at him while he was engaged in the lawful performance of his duties. (Appendix III, Opinion of the Fifth District Court of Appeal). The State moved for rehearing on February 20, 1992 citing direct conflict with Kimbrough v. State, 356 So.2d 1294 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978). (Appendix IV, Petition for Rehearing), That Motion was denied by order dated March 6, 1992. 30, 1992, the State filed its Notice Invoking March Discretionary Jurisdiction and a Motion to Stay Enforcement of Mandate.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On October 24, 1990, Respondent telephoned his wife at her place of employment and informed her that he was getting a gun and corning over there to kill her. (R517-519). She immediately called 911. (R515). Officer Pollack was dispatched with his partner Officer Greene to Respondent's residence. (R535-540). Respondent attempted to elude the police in his car. Corporal Huss said he was dispatched to back up Officer Pollack. His marked police vehicle was travelling at approximately 10 to 15 MPH when Respondent's vehicle approached him. Respondent placed a nickle plated short-barreled revolver out the driver's side window, aimed it in the direction of Officer Huss and fired a shot'. Huss said he thought Respandent was going to shoot him and was scared to death. (**R562-567, 571,** 587). finally stopped his vehicle after a one-half mile chase and threw two handguns out of the window. One of those guns matched the description of the weapon used against Corporal Huss. 544, 545, 571). He was placed under arrest for Attempted Murder of a Police Officer. A taped statement was taken from the Respondent and was used against him at his trial. During that statement he admitted firing his revolver "...over the police cruiser..." with the intention of stopping the "...police officers in their tracks...". (R691, **696-697**).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in the case subjudice is in direct conflict with the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in Kimbrough v. State, 356 So.2d 1294 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978). (Appendix V). That case held that the allegation that the defendant shot someone satisfies the requirement that the State allege a well-founded fear of imminent violence sufficient to require an instruction on aggravated assault as a lesser included offense of attempted murder.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THE CASE SUBJUDICE IS IN **EXPRESS** AND **DIRECT** CONFLICT WITH THE DECISION OF **THE** FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN KIMBROUGH V. STATE, 356 SO.2D 1294 (FLA. 4TH **DCA** 1978).

In the instant case, the Information alleges that Respondent fired his revolver at a law enforcement officer while that officer was engaged in the lawful performance of his duties (stopping Respondent from killing his wife.) Respandent stated that it was his intention to shoot over the police cruiser to stop "the police officers in their tracks." Respondent never denied the shooting. His defense was basically that he did not intend to kill the police by shooting them, but merely to scare them off.

In <u>Kimbrough v. State</u>, 356 So.2d 1294 (Fla. 4th **DCA** 1978), the Court said that the allegation that the defendant **shot** at the victim satisfies the requirement that well-founded fear be alleged in the charging document sufficiently to allow instruction on aggravated assault as a lesser included offense of attempted murder. In the case subjudice, the Fifth District Court of Appeal cited <u>Kimbrough</u>, but simply concluded that it is "probably erroneous". The Court held that the allegation that a defendant shot at a police officer in the performance of his duty does not presuppose that such actions would put that officer in well-founded fear of imminent violence.

These two district court decisions reached exactly opposite conclusions from virtually identical facts, This is precisely

the type of case which requires review by this Court under Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution and Florida Rule of Appellate **Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).** See Reaves v. State, 485 So.2d 829 (Fla. 1986).

This is particularly true in light of this Court's recent decision in Pardo v. State, 17 FLW 5194 (Fla. Opinion filed March 26, 1992), which reaffirmed that the decisions of other district courts of appeal represent the law of Florida and are binding on all Florida trial courts unless of until they are overruled by this Court. The trial court in the case subjudice was bound to follow the law as enunciated by the Fourth District in Kimbrough. When the State charges attempted murder of a police officer in the line of duty, it is absurd to require the State to also allege that the police officer who was being shot at was in fear of imminent violence. That is especially true where Respondent's defense was that he did not intend to kill the police officers, only put them in fear of imminent violence and stop them "in their tracks."

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented herein, Petitioner prays this honorable court accept jurisdiction to resolve the conflict between these two decisions of the District Courts.