in the supreme court of florid, $^{\!\!\!\!A}$

≅ທ J. WHITE ັ່ງ

... 6 1001

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

CLERK, SUPREME GOURT.

Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 79,630

vs .

JAMES VON DECK,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

JAMES G. KONTOS
Fla. Bar #788554
The Law Firm of Daniel S. Ciener
255 North Grove Street, Suite A
Merritt Island, Florida 32953
(407) 452-2433

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

At the jury charge conference in the instant case the state requested the lesser included offense of aggravated assault and its enhancements. The defendant objected to this lesser included offense. (Pet. Appendix 111, R. 928-929, 931).

On February 20, 1992, the state moved for rehearing and also asked the fifth district court of appeal to certify direct conflict between it's decision in the instant case and Kimbrough v. State, 356 So.2d 1294 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978). (Pet. Appendix IV). The fifth district court refused to certify conflict between the two decisions.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The following are facts omitted in petitioner's statement of the facts.

On October 24, 1990, at approximately 4:00 p.m. the defendant phoned his wife at the Jiffy Food Mart where she worked. (R. 515). The defendant and his wife got into an argument and the defendant told her he was going to come up and "get her butt." (R. 693).

The defendant's brother, Ronald Von Deck, later told the police officers that he was unsure whether the defendant knew his wife had been cheating on him. (R. 713-714).

On the way to the Jiffy Food Store the defendant fired a shot in the air over the police cruiser. (R. 696). The defendant was a good shot, shooting at a local target range on a weekly basis. (R. 698). The defendant could have hit the police car or the officer had he wanted to. (R. 697-699). The defendant only wanted to get the police officers out of his way. (R. 700).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- I. There is no "express and direct" conflict between the instant case and <u>Kimbrough v. State</u>, 356 So.2d 1294 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978), because the two cases do not have "substantially the same controlling facts."
- II. Both the instant case and <u>Kimbrough v. State</u>, 356 So.2d 1294 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978), originated in Brevard County in the eighteenth judicial circuit. At the time <u>Kimbrough</u> was decided the fifth district court had not yet been created and Brevard County was in the fourth district.

 Therefore, there is no conflict with the decision of <u>another</u> district court of appeal.
- 111. Petitioner's argument that the fifth district court's opinion in the instant case is "absurd" is not a valid reason to invoke the discretionary conflict jurisdiction of this court.

ARGUMENT #1

THERE IS NO EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT BETWEEN THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT'S OPINION IN THE INSTANT CASE AND KIMBROUGH V. STATE, 356 SO.2D 1294 (FLA. 4TH DCA 1978).

Petitioner asks this court to accept jurisdiction in the instant case due to an alleged conflict with the fourth district court of appeal's decision in Kimbrough v. State, 356 So.2d 1294 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978). Article V, section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution states that the Supreme Court may review the decision of a district court of appeal if that decision "expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another court of appeal . . . on the same question of law." [emphasis added]. This "express and direct" conflict can exist in one of two ways. Either an announced rule of law conflicts with other appellate court's expressions of the law, or a rule of law is applied to produce a different result in a case which involves "substantially the same controlling facts as a prior case." City of Jacksonville v. Florida First National Bank of Jacksonville, 339 So. 2d 632 (Fla. 1976), Nielson v. City of Sarasota, 117 So. 2d 731 (Fla. 1960).

The first situation is not applicable to the instant case. There is no conflict between the rules of law applied in <u>Kimbrough</u> and <u>Von Deck</u>. The law as applied in both cases is the same law that has existed for decades: the charging document must allege all the elements of a lesser included offense before that offense can be read to the jury as a lesser included charge.

The second situation under which a conflict can arise is also not applicable to the instant case and Kimbrough. For

there to be conflict under this second "test" the two cases would be required to have "substantially the same controlling facts." However, the facts of <u>Von Deck</u> and <u>Kimbrough</u> are clearly, obviously and easily distinguishable.

First, in Kimbrough it was the defendant who reuuested the lesser included offense and the state who objected to it being given. Contrarily, in Von Deck the state requested the lesser and the defendant objected to it. The fifth district court of appeals emphasized this obvious factual distinction in its opinion by stating "Kimbrough is probably erroneous but then a reading in a criminal case in favor of the defendant, or made at the defendant's special informal request, cannot be said to violate his constitutional right as to notice and due process.!! Von Deck v. State, 593 So.2d 1129, 1130 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992). (Pet. Appendix III). Thus, although the fifth district court criticized the fourth district court's decision in Kimbrough, it specifically recognizes a key factual distinction between the cases: when a defendant requests a lesser included offense and the state objects, the giving of the lesser does not infringe upon the state's constitutional right to due process and notice because the state does not have a constitutional right to due process and notice, however, when a defendant objects to the state's request for a lesser included offense which is not fully alleged in the charging document, the defendant's constitutional rights of due process and notice are infringed upon.

The second reason the two cases are not in conflict is because the exact language of the charging document in

Kimbrough is never recounted. The fourth district court merely concludes, in two sentences, that the charging document before it was sufficient to allege the elements of an aggravated assault. There is no recounting of the exact words contained in the information and therefore this court does not know whether the information specifically did state the victim was placed in fear or whether the information alleged that the victim actually observed or heard any of the five shots being fired at him. (If the information specifically alleged that the victim was placed in fear, then that element of aggravated assault would obviously be alleged. Furthermore, if the charging document alleged that five shots were fired at the victim, or that he actually observed or heard any of the five shots, then it could be reasonably inferred that fear of the victim was sufficiently alleged.) Without knowledge of the exact allegations in the charging document of both cases it is impossible for this court to determine whether the language of the charging documents in Kimbrough and Von Deck are in fact the same and whether a lesser included offense under the same language of an information was allowed in one case while not allowed in the other.

Given the fourth district court's brief discussion of this first prong of the Florida Supreme Court's two prong test for determining whether a permissive lesser included offense should be presented to the jury, it appears that the sufficiency of the charging document was never an important issue, if an issue at all, in the <u>Kimbrough</u> appeal. Rather, <u>Kimbrough</u> focuses on the <u>facts</u> presented at trial and whether

these <u>facts</u> supported the requested lesser included offense. Whether the <u>facts</u> of the instant case supported the lesser included offense was never an issue in this appeal because the first prong of this court's test on permissive lesser included offenses was never met: the charging document in the instant case did not allege all of the elements of aggravated assault.

Therefore, petitioner's request to invoke this court's discretionary conflict jurisdiction should be denied.

ARGUMENT #2

BECAUSE THE FIFTH DISTRICT HAD NOT BEEN CREATED AT THE TIME OF THE KIMBROUGH DECISION THE TWO CASES ARE NOT FROM DIFFERENT DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL

The discretionary jurisdiction of this court is not applicable to the instant case because Rule 9.030(a)(2)

(A)(iv), F.R.Cr.P. allows discretionary jurisdiction to be sought only when a decision of a district court "expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal . . . on the same question of law." [emphasis added].

The instant case originated in Brevard County of the eighteenth judicial circuit which is now in the fifth appellate district. The decision in Kimbrough v. State, 356 \$0.2d 1294 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978), also originated in Brevard County of the eighteenth judicial circuit, however, at that time the fifth district had not yet been created and the district court of appeal for Brevard County was the fourth district. Thus, the fifth district court's decision in Von Deck is not in conflict with another district court

because at the time the Kimbrough opinion was issued there was no fifth district and the area of the fifth district from which <u>Von Deck</u> originated was then part of the fourth district. Although respondent has been unable to find any Florida decision which even discusses this issue it seems logical that when the fifth district was created the eighteenth judicial circuit was bound by the decisions of the fourth district court which originated in the area of the fourth district which is now the fifth district. Furthermore, the fifth district would be bound by the previous decisions of the fourth district which originated in the area which was now the fifth district. Therefore, even if there was a conflict between the two decisions (which there is not) the fifth district court of appeals decision in Von Deck would be a change in the law within that district. Such a situation is not one in which the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court can be invoked.

ARGUMENT #3

PETITIONER'S ARGUMENT THAT THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION IN THE INSTANT CASE IS ABSURD IS NOT SUFFICIENT TO INVOKE THIS COURT'S JURISDICTION

In his closing paragraph petitioner claims that it is "absurd" for the state to have to allege in an information charging attempted murder of a police officer that the victim was placed in fear before the state would be allowed the lesser included offense of aggravated assault to be read to the jury. However, this criticism is nothing more than a criticism of the law which has existed in this state since this court's decision in Brown v. State, 206 So.2d 377 (Fla.

1968). The firmly established law in <u>Brown</u> is that a lesser included offense may be read to the jury only if both the accusatory pleading <u>and</u> the evidence at trial support the lesser. The policy behind this requirement is that the defendant is entitled to be apprised by the accusatory pleading of all offenses of which he may be convicted. <u>Brown</u> at 383.

What petitioner fails to recognize is that the state has great discretion in determining which charges will ultimately be presented to the jury. The state can file a strong case so that few lesser included offenses will be presented, or they can file a weak case so that many lesser included options will be presented to the jury. The state's tactical decision in the instant case was to file a single charge which carried a minimum mandatory prison sentence of twentyfive years before eligibility for parole. Section 775.825 Fla. Stat. (1988). Had the state wished to give the jury the option of the lesser included offense of aggravated assault on a law enforcement officer with a firearm, they could have either alleged the element of fear of the victim in the charging document or added count II to the information charging aggravated assault and its enhancements. However, the state opted for a charging document which would allow only an all or nothing verdict. Because this tactic failed, the state is now asking this court to accept jurisdiction and rescue the state from its error. Such is not a valid ground for requesting this court to invoke its conflict jurisdiction.

CONCLUSION

Respondent respectfully asks this Honorable Court to deny petitioner's request that this court accept jurisdiction based on a conflict that does not exist.